
   [image: cover]


   
      1
          

         ‘Damning but compelling … essential reading … the best of the large crop of books by Irish journalists this year, it grows beyond its immediate subject to become a terrifying anatomy of the capacity for denial and vilification within any enclosed world’

         Fintan O’Toole, The Irish Times

         ‘Very compellingly written.’

         Pat Kenny, RTE Radio 1

         ‘This is a story that needed to be written. All the victims have ever asked for is justice and for people to know what happened. Now, thanks to Justine McCarthy, they do.’

         The Irish Times

         ‘Mandatory reading for every parent.’

         Joe Duffy, Liveline, RTE Radio 1

         ‘Heartrending.’ Sunday Tribune

         ‘Hard-hitting.’ Irish Daily Star Sunday

         ‘Bristles with anger, glows with compassion and asks some difficult questions … a thoroughly researched and readable work.’

         Sunday Tribune
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            Two Mexican boys drift by on the current

            In a dead-man’s float, shirtless, their bodies

            Dark as skates. Just as they pass,

            They roll over onto their backs

            Laughing before they hit the spot where the rapids

            Begin to wheel and surf out of sight.

            
                

            

            (From the poem, ‘Flood’, by Brian Barker)

         

         
             

         

         
             

         

         The dead man’s float is a survival technique recommended to swimmers. The swimmer is required to adopt a vertical position in the water, face down with only the back of the head breaching the surface. The swimmer allows his or her arms and legs to dangle and raises his or her head regularly to breathe in oxygen. It is the air in the lungs that keeps the swimmer afloat. Although the name is derived from the common position in which human corpses are found in water, the technique is recognised as a method of prolonging endurance. The smaller the swimmer’s limbs – a child’s, for instance – the more likely the person is to float facing upwards, and to survive. 6
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            Introduction

         

         I was a staff features writer for the Irish Independent in the mid-1990s when I was drawn to a story that was to occupy my life for years to come – the story of the sexual abuse of children within Irish swimming. At that time, I knew Chalkie White only by his newspaper byline as he was the Irish Independent’s swimming correspondent. Our paths did not cross until he sought me out in the office one night with the quintessential journalist’s bait: ‘I’ve got a story for you that’s going to be massive when it breaks,’ he promised, or words to that effect.

         The names Derry O’Rourke, George Gibney and Frank McCann are now notorious, but this was still two years before Derry O’Rourke would be jailed for the first time for sex offences involving child and teenage swimmers. George Gibney had fled the state after charges against him of indecent assault and unlawful carnal knowledge of young swimmers collapsed on a technicality. Frank McCann was in jail awaiting trial for the murder of his wife and foster daughter. At that stage, the macabre events tearing swimming apart were still the sport’s dirty little secret. A secret that Chalkie White was determined to expose.

         Chalkie would collect me in his car at night after we had both finished work; it was on these night-time excursions that he introduced me to survivors of child sexual abuse in the sport of swimming. Through him I first met the swimmer whom George Gibney had locked into a Florida hotel room and raped five years before. Two 8 years before the night we were introduced, she had made her first attempt to kill herself, but she was clinging to life and – for the purpose of our meeting – to her anonymity in her suburban home, flanked by her loving parents. She talked with machine-like detachment, as if her mind had managed to disengage even if she could not make her body stop living.

         Despite the enforced silence of the survivors – or possibly, because of it – there is an enduring esprit de corps between survivors of George Gibney and survivors of Derry O’Rourke. Many of them had been elite swimmers whose lives overlapped in the pool. It was Chalkie, on his mission to expose George Gibney, who introduced me to Bart Nolan, the doughtiest pursuer of justice you could hope to meet. Through Bart, I came to know eight of the women who had been abused by Derry O’Rourke. On every encounter over the years, my admiration for their dignity and strength of character has been renewed. I feel they are my friends.

         The people whose stories have combined to create this book had their voices taken from them as children. By telling their stories, they are taking their voices back. Those abused by George Gibney, Derry O’Rourke and Fr Ronald Bennett were warned to say nothing. They grew up saying nothing. Their friends, their neighbours, their extended families and work colleagues have never known about the childhood torments that haunt them. In some cases, their parents went to their graves still oblivious. Though most of them, apart from Chalkie White, Lorraine Kennedy and Karen Leach, remain anonymous, they are men and women of singular fortitude and I thank them for their courage.

         In the early days, when the survivors were unable to speak even off 9 the record, others spoke for them. Gary O’Toole, the world-beating swimmer, has been an even greater champion behind the scenes than he was in the water. He took personal risks beyond the normal human obligations to ensure that good eventually triumphed. Were it not for Gary, his father, Aidan, and his mother, Kaye, these tragedies might have been brushed under the carpet. Another hero is Johnny Watterson, now a sports journalist with The Irish Times, who, along with a plucky editor and a dash of pragmatic legal advice, exploded the taboo of naming George Gibney as a child sexual abuser in the Sunday Tribune after the State’s criminal justice system failed to do so.

         These people have been invaluable sources of information to me, contributing by way of interviews, correspondence, photographs and a wealth of documents. Because so many cannot be named, it has not been consistently possible to identify sources of specific information throughout the narrative. Others, such as Carole Walsh, who privately advocated on behalf of two of George Gibney’s victims, have been wholeheartedly committed to ensuring the story is told. Marian Leonard, the sister of Esther McCann, who was murdered along with her beloved little Jessica by Frank McCann, has tirelessly told and re-told her story so that it can reach the widest possible audience. I thank Marian and her daughter – named Esther in honour of her aunt – for all their help and for their bravery.

         Val White was one of the many indirect victims of the secret crimes in swimming. I thank her especially for her courage in telling how her marriage to a man she loves to this day disintegrated under the strain of Gibney’s legacy. 10

         When Michael O’Brien of The O’Brien Press initially approached me to write a book on child abuse in swimming I had reservations; I was concerned that the book would become just another true crime book, dependent on shock value. But when I ran the idea by some of the survivors, they unanimously decided that the book had to be written, for all sorts of reasons: catharsis, truth, vindication, but most of all to safeguard the children of future generations. For more than two years, they willed this book on, figuratively sitting on my shoulder and tapping the keys of this laptop. When we hit wall after wall, the text messages, emails, phone calls and catch-up cups of coffee with Karen, and swimmers ‘A’, ‘B’, ‘C’, ‘D’, Bart and Aidan et al kept the momentum going. We’ve toasted a wedding, a new baby and a class action High Court settlement in the lacunae.

         And so I, along with the survivors of these swimming scandals, want to say thank-you, finally, to The O’Brien Press for treating the story of their lives with sensitivity.

         To you the reader, we ask only that you read it. And, please, don’t ever forget.  

         Justine McCarthy,

August 2009
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         Note on reported speech

         One of the traits many of those who were abused have in common is their minutely detailed recollection of the events that have dominated their lives. They remember them as if they happened yesterday. It is a characteristic shared with those who campaigned on their behalf and also suffered for doing so. While this has proven a valuable resource, it also presents a dilemma. They remember whole conversations and relate them as if verbatim. The information imparted by their remembered conversations is, no doubt, correct but it is unlikely that the dialogue is always word-for-word accurate. Therefore, throughout the book, these remembered conversations appear, not in conventional quotation marks, but preceded by dashes. Any conversation presented within quotation marks comes either from written statements or from recorded conversations. 12
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            1. The Trial of Derry O’Rourke

         

         They link arms like a wind-breaker braced for a storm. The grey light of a dank January morning reveals faces pulled tight with apprehension. Far-away voices drift along the corridors, the shrill of their business-like assuredness sounding incongruous in the hush enveloping the women. Many of them are in their twenties, some in their thirties. One is only seventeen, a blow-in from a different generation, snared by a flattering letter written long ago by the coach to her parents, so admiring of her talent that they moved house to be closer to the swimming pool.

         ‘If someone had done something then, when it was happening to them,’ she thinks, looking at the older women and feeling again the burning indignation that, on one occasion, rescued her from his groping intentions, ‘I would have been saved.’

         None of the women had ever entered a courtroom before filing into the Four Courts to pursue some fragment of affirmation that, once upon a time, they were little girls with dreams. They speak soft words of mutual encouragement, their glances darting to the entrance with growing frequency as more and more newcomers congregate outside the shut courtroom door. Some more of the women stand apart in scattered islands buffered by mothers and fathers, husbands and lovers, sisters and brothers, and friends and supporters, many of whom have themselves been ostracised and 14 denounced for insisting that the truth be told. Of the eleven women, one has returned from her new home overseas to share with the judge the childhood secret that to this day, she has not told her parents; her mother died six years ago. Another kept her secret for sixteen years believing she had learned to live with it. The day her brother invited her to be godmother to his first-born child, however, her joy turned to panic. He told that her old swimming coach, who had previously sold life insurance to him and his wife, had visited his house to inquire if the couple would add the baby’s name to the policy. It was then that she had gone to the Gardaí.

         So many of them drifted away in the years since they left school and the club and swimming, not daring to look back. They snatch glimpses of one another and recognise, beneath the adult masks of cosmetics and practised inscrutability, girls who once were their friends and swam in the lanes beside them, morning after morning, while their fathers slept in their cars outside. Never knowing.

         ‘Our mothers made tea in flasks for them and they’d sleep in sleeping bags in the cars while we trained at five o’clock in the morning. Our parents made big sacrifices for us. It cost £300 a year to be a member of the club, plus you had all the gear and the away trips and my dad was on the dole. To think of all those dads outside asleep in the car. When they found out, it broke their hearts. And that’s what breaks my heart.’ (Swimmer D)

         When he appears, they are paralysed. He looks no different from the coach who used to tell smutty jokes and get the boys to compete in spitting competitions in the pool. Back comes the old fear that he will single out one girl; catch her eye, crook his finger and summon her to the ‘chamber of horrors’. 15

         ‘You can’t put into words the fear, the fear. I can never forgive myself for the day my best friend begged me for help with her eyes before turning and following him into that room. It was at the far end of the pool. She was begging to me and I didn’t go and I have to live with that for the rest of my life. We called it the “chamber of horrors” even then. What was it like? It was very dark.’ (Swimmer C).

         Even peripheral players in their story, the milling lawyers, reporters and court staff, who have not seen him enter know that he has arrived, alerted by the stiffened atmosphere. A big man at one time, now he is devoured by his herringbone tweed coat. There is a gold band on his wedding finger. A holy medal glints in his lapel. There are rumours that he has taken to wearing religious emblems, promoting prayer meetings and peppering his language with references to the Almighty since the Garda investigation commenced. In appearance he is unexceptional; a father of six and a grandfather. He does not cast the women an eye as he and his retinue cross the hall to establish their station until the heavy courtroom doors will open. He betrays neither bravado nor contrition. Beside him stands a slight woman with lank grey pigtails and Barbie-pink clothes.

         – That’s the wife, a whisper goes around.

         Presently, an elderly man in Derry O’Rourke’s entourage hands him a sheet of paper and a biro and he begins to write something down. When he finishes, he gives the paper back and the older man, attired in the conventional clerical garb of black suit and white stock, breaks away from the entourage. The priest shuffles between the waiting knots of people dispersed around the hallway, proffering his pen and paper while the word goes round that he is 16 here to give character evidence for O’Rourke in his appeal for the court’s leniency. Colour drains from the faces of those he approaches when they read the paper and discover it is an anti-abortion petition. Their shock turns to anger when they see O’Rourke’s name at the top of the page. The fifty-one-year-old family man, daily mass-goer and self-confessed child rapist has appended the address of his parents’ house in Crumlin where he grew up. The self-confidence of the signature evinces his imperviousness to these obscenely warped circumstances but, as the courtroom doors open and the hall empties, the women themselves are philosophical. They have known the depths of Derry O’Rourke’s depravity.

         In the courtroom, he sits impassive and unflinching in a front row seat as Detective Garda Sarah Keane, from the Sexual Assault Unit in Harcourt Square, recounts his orgy of sexual abuse of children in his care over two decades. He raped three of these eleven women before they were teenagers. The testimony of the young detective is littered with blunt labels like oral sex, hypnosis, digital penetration, intimidation, assault, rape. The women’s sobbing is audible from the gallery of seats at the back of the room, but O’Rourke might as well be listening to a recitation of the Dublin Bus timetable. His face is unreadable. The former two-pound-a-week clerk in Donnelly’s Coal Yard on Sir John Rogerson’s Quay keeps his gaze trained on the witness stand. Five years after the Garda investigation began in January 1993, and after he tried to convert every loophole in the law books into an escape hatch from justice, he finally surrendered. He had originally been charged on 10 July 1995 with ninety offences against girls aged eleven to 17 fifteen. Nearly two and a half years later, in December 1997 in the Dublin Circuit Criminal Court, he pleaded guilty to twenty-nine sample charges, a common mechanism in child sexual abuse cases where the sheer volume of complainants and charges is often too unwieldy for each one to be prosecuted efficiently. After pleading guilty in December, he went home for a month, celebrating Christmas and seeing in the New Year with his family while the court awaited victim impact reports. Now it is January 29, 1998 and he stands convicted of unlawful carnal knowledge, sexual assault and indecent assault of eleven girls, between 1976 and 1992.

         Much of the abuse, says Detective Keane, was committed in the boardroom, a storage area for floatation aids located off the poolside. This was the room the girls knew as the ‘chamber of horrors’. It was here that he hypnotised them, before violating them. He would instruct them to imagine themselves lying on a sun-drenched beach and to imagine a boyfriend lying down with them. The boy, he told them, was touching parts of their bodies and he would name each body part as he touched it. He said the hypnosis was a scientific technique designed to relax them and improve their swimming. If the hypnosis did not work, he pretended he was measuring their muscle development while he fondled them. He would rebuke them for poor performances in the pool and ply them with insistent questions about their menstrual cycles. These interrogations often targeted girls who were too young to have begun menstruating. When he summoned a girl to his ‘chamber of horrors’, he would order her to raise her hands onto an overhead shelf and he would proceed to feel her breasts under her togs. He would then tell her to lower her togs to her waist to allow him ‘to 18 get a better measure’. Sometimes, his hand would move inside the bottom half of the togs and he would touch the girl there. One girl, the seventeen-year-old, said that she had grown braver by the time she reached fifteen and she told him to stop ‘molesting’ her. He did. Another time, she and her best friend hid his measuring tape. When it was found, a female swimming official marched the girls into the showers but, instead of reprimanding them as they expected, she announced: – From now on, I’ll be measuring you.

         Usually he perpetrated the rapes in his Mazda car. He was in the habit of giving club members lifts home from training, by prior arrangement with their parents. Ten minutes or so after driving away from the prestigious Dublin boarding school where he was employed as pool manager, he would park the car in a side-road and rape his victim.

         ‘You’d be sitting in the car shitting yourself and your stomach going up and down and wanting to tell your mam but not wanting to tell her because you wouldn’t be able to go swimming anymore.’(Swimmer C).

         He raped one girl in his own bed after bringing her to his house on the pretext that he needed to talk to her about her swimming. He called another girl, aged thirteen, to his office and made her sit astride him on his lap, facing him. He told her to shut her eyes and, when she obeyed, he unwrapped a condom and raped her. He asked her if it hurt. She said it did and she asked him to stop, please. He asked her did she know what happened. She said ‘yes’ and ran crying from the room. In her statement to Gardaí years later she acknowledged that she had not understood that what he had done to her constituted sexual intercourse.

         Detective Keane says that O’Rourke has shown no remorse 19 the five-year investigation. She says he did not co-operate when she questioned him. He had sworn to Judge Peter Kelly in his application to the High Court to have the prosecution struck out that, if it went ahead, he would plead not guilty to all the charges and rigorously defend himself. As it turns out, his ‘guilty’ response before Christmas to the twenty-nine sample charges has rendered a hearing of the evidence against him unnecessary. All that is to be done now is to determine how long he must spend in jail.

         Beside him in the front row in Court Number 23, Julie, the wife he courted when they were both young and she was a clerk in Sheridan’s coal yard in Hanover Hill, keeps her grey head bowed. She is flanked by a son and a daughter, each holding one of her hands in a tableau of grief. The son’s mouth moves incessantly, as if he is incanting the same prayer over and over into his mother’s ear.

         When the formal evidence is concluded, the first of the women walks from the back of the courtroom, enters the witness stand, takes the Bible in her right hand and swears to tell the truth. She sits facing the judge.

         ‘I want to tell you how Derry O’Rourke destroyed my life,’ she begins, addressing the wigged figure of authority. She tells the judge how her swimming coach violated her in her school uniform and raped her in his car three times a week, starting when she was twelve years of age. She is holding a sodden tissue and occasionally dabbing tears from her cheeks, but she is coherent and her voice is resolute. The judge tells her she does not have to put herself through the ordeal of telling her story: O’Rourke has been convicted; he will be punished, he assures her. 20

         ‘I must,’ she replies.

         ‘I am a man. I was never a woman. It must be a horrible experience. I sympathise with you, but this isn’t the worst case of its kind that I’ve heard. I’ve heard much worse, actually. Get on with your life,’ Mr Justice Kieran O’Connor advises her, seemingly oblivious to the gasps emanating from the back of the courtroom where the other women are seated. ‘Get counselling.’

         ‘I can’t bring myself to go for counselling for fear that the anger will come out and ruin my marriage and my children. I didn’t know until I was seventeen that what he did to me was sexual intercourse. I left my home town to avoid him and never went back. To this day, I cannot perform with my husband in ways I would like to.’

         The man standing by the door being cradled like a baby by a friend is her husband. He watches his wife step down from the witness box and walk towards him, past O’Rourke, who does not look up. She stares into O’Rourke’s face as she goes by and as she reaches her husband’s side and he puts his arms around her, the judge is saying that the court will sit again in the morning to determine sentence. The judge alone seems unaware that something has snapped and that he has been the catalyst. Until today, there had been a loose arrangement among the women that only one of them would give a victim impact statement at the sentence hearing, but that may no longer hold. As O’Rourke walks from the courtroom for his last night of freedom, the women hold each other and determine that any mandatory diminution of his sentence as a reward for pleading guilty will only be decided after they have fully informed the judge of their suffering. 21

         And so the next day, Friday 30 January, when Mr Justice Kieran O’Connor arrives on the bench to resume the hearing, a queue of women is waiting to occupy the witness stand. Six more will have their say before their abuser is led away to the prison van despite renewed efforts by the judge to shush them.

         Today, O’Rourke is wearing a homespun jumper – the sort middle-aged men receive as Christmas presents – under a sports jacket. In his lapel, once again, is the holy medal, but there is no sighting of the priest. O’Rourke will not look at the first woman to take her seat in the witness box, who the judge is advising with avuncular concern to take up a hobby. He recommends, among other pursuits, swimming.

         ‘Get it out of your system and get on with your life,’ he urges her.

         ‘It’s important for me to let him know what he has done to me,’ she persists. ‘He cruelly took away my childhood. I trusted him. My parents trusted him. But he abused that trust. I had to tell my mother when I was twenty-four what he did to me and I made my mother cry.’

         Turning to face the coach whom she and the other girls used to call ‘God’, she speaks to him directly. ‘You made my mother cry.’

         Another woman takes her place. Again, Judge O’Connor cautions against what he calls unnecessary agony.

         ‘I chose to come and say what I have to say and I chose to because I feel I need this man to understand the effect his crime has had on me,’ she explains. Then looking straight at the judge, she adds: ‘And I’m sorry if my distress upsets you.’

         The applause that erupts in the courtroom is the noise of a long 22 silence rupturing.

         The seventeen-year-old girl is next. She speaks with the same compelling dignity as the others.

         ‘He ruined my life and all the prayers in the world won’t change that. I remember sitting in the car, knowing I was going to be measured. I remember my best friend begging me to go in after her and I didn’t and that guilt has lived with me. For me, the way to cope as a teenager and in my early twenties was through drinking and hiding behind drink.’

         You can feel the courtroom tensing when it is his turn to offer mitigation in his defence. His senior counsel, Patrick Gageby, has appealed to the judge to take into account that ‘the worst of the offences happened sixteen to twenty-one years ago’. His main argument is that there were no ‘sexual intercourse offences’ after 1983 and that there did not seem to be ‘any offending from 1983 to 1991’. He urges the judge to deal with his client ‘based on the character he is now’.

         O’Rourke enters the witness box, takes the Bible in his right hand and swears to tell the truth.

         His voice is steady and strong. ‘I consider it a blessing that when I was first interviewed [by Gardaí] the first thing I did was to pray for the young people I offended,’ he tells the judge. The past five years, he says, have been ‘as close to hell as you can get’. He apologises to the women he abused and says that he prays for them. He apologises to his family for the shame he has brought upon them. He apologises to his employers for having abused his position of trust. The sound of his victims’ weeping fills the pauses in his public act of contrition. ‘The only thing I can add is that, in all 23 sincerity, I ask everyone I have hurt, in the name of Jesus Christ, to forgive me.’

         Next to take the oath is Julie, his petite, ashen-faced wife, followed by their daughter, Kirsty.

         Both women attest to what a good father and provider he has been down through the years.

         ‘You have a wonderful family whom you don’t deserve,’ the judge rebukes him. He praises Julie for being ‘the bravest woman I have ever had in this court.’ If the unintended insult goes unre-marked by some of the women seated together in the back it is because they sense that O’Rourke’s punishment is about to be announced and nothing will distract them from this denouement.

         Mr Justice O’Connor is saying that he is obliged, following a ruling by the superior courts, to regard the convicted man’s guilty plea as mitigation. ‘The only thing I can find in your favour is that you pleaded guilty and saved your victims the horrible trauma of having to relive their dreadful experience of what you did to them all those years ago. … All that has been said in this case can only lead me to the conclusion that your behaviour was the planned pursuit of sexual perversion against young girls on whom you visited sex in a cruel and brutal way.’

         Next he addresses the victims. ‘To all those girls, I say it was a horrible experience. Go on now and live your lives in the hope you will recover as best you can from a foul deed perpetrated on your young bodies.’

         As he passes sentence, the crowded courtroom struggles to keep abreast of the arithmetic.

         Two terms of twelve years each for unlawful carnal knowledge 24 of girls under fifteen; two separate terms of seven years and five years plus eight terms of six years for indecent assault; five three-year terms for the sexual assaults, and ten terms of one year each for other indecent assaults. The women at the back of the room and the O’Rourke family at the front are so engrossed in calculating the length of the sentence that many of them do not hear the judge declare all the sentences are to run concurrently. Patrick McCarthy, senior counsel for the DPP, asks that the media ban on identifying O’Rourke be lifted, at the request of the victims whose own names, ages and occupations should remain confidential. The judge acquiesces.

         As the court rises and the judge leaves the bench, the words, ‘a hundred and nine years’ are repeated in a babel of disbelief and awe. Some of the jubilant women and their supporters climb onto the courtroom seats and applaud, tears streaming down their faces. Two uniformed prison officers approach O’Rourke. The steel handcuffs glint as they are slipped around his wrists. There is a sudden hush. The click of the cuffs is audible. He does not flinch.

         ‘No pain, no gain,’ cries out the mother of one of his victims, repeating his favourite training mantra. People around her clap, a tentative applause of the kind you hear in a theatre when the audience is unsure if the drama is concluded. When he is led from the room, the women crowd around the windows in the corridor outside and watch attentively as he is loaded into a prison van.

         ‘I have waited a long, long time for this moment,’ says a woman aloud, to herself.

         By the time of his release from the Midlands Prison in Portlaoise after nine years, on Thursday, March 1, 2007, he will have been 25 convicted, in three separate tranches of prosecutions, on fifty-five charges of sexually abusing eighteen girls, amounting to cumulative prison sentences of 130 years. His youngest victim, it will be established by the law courts, was ten.

         ‘I know for a fact that he abused more than us. He behaved as if he was invincible. We’ve talked about it and we think there could have been a hundred girls or more. We had our picture taken for the Irish Press one time for a gala and he had his hand under my top, and the photographer there with his camera. He didn’t give a shit.’ (Swimmer B)

         On the same day in the Dublin Circuit Criminal Court, Fr Ivan Payne, a fifty-four-year-old priest of the archdiocese of Dublin and a former chaplain to Our Lady’s Hospital for Sick Children, has pleaded guilty to the sexual abuse of eight boys from 1968 to 1987. It was revealed five years earlier that the Archbishop of Dublin, Dr Desmond Connell, approved a loan of IR£27,500 from diocesan funds for the priest to pay damages in settlement of a claim brought by a former altar boy, Andrew Madden, whom Payne started abusing when the boy was eleven. The name of Ivan Payne was to become a landmark in the slow unravelling of the Catholic Church’s sheltering of paedophile priests.

         But it is Derry O’Rourke who will become the most notorious paedophile in the jurisdiction and his jailing will come to be seen as a defining event for Irish society. His name will, overnight, become a byword for the exposure of a series of macabre, multiple-paedophile scandals within the sport of swimming, sparking speculation that an organised ring may have been secretly operating within the State-funded sport. Yet, despite his notoriety, 26 by the time he will have served his sentence and be freed back into society nine years later, the survivors of his crimes will still not have received a cent in compensation. Nor will the authorities who entrusted their care to Derry O’Rourke have issued an apology to them.

         ‘Nobody has said sorry. Nobody. Nobody. Even now, seeing my kids in their togs, I can feel the cold in that room. I used to count the phone books on the shelf and the certificates on the wall, once the door closed. When I went for counselling, I started counting things in the counseller’s office. I remember being so depressed as a child, and wanting to die and going to the top of our back garden and saying “Please, Lord, take me. Don’t take anybody else. Just me”.’ (Swimmer D).

         But on this day of triumph in Court 29 of the Dublin Circuit Criminal Court, the future looks bright. Outside the courthouse, on the footpath beside the Liffey, the women gather around a woman solicitor who has been engaged by one of them to keep a watching brief at the trial. She gives them a synopsis of their rights and entitlements and their faces, pressed close to one another in concentrated audience, glow with relief. The solicitor offers to meet them again before they depart in groups and pairs to begin the rest of their lives, the sounds of renewed camaraderie trailing in their wake betoken the lifelong friendships that might have been.

         ‘We should have been at each other’s birthdays and weddings and debs, but we lost all that. We had been so close. He took our friendships and our childhood and our dreams. I grieve for that; for the child I was.’ (Swimmer B).

         Swimmer A takes a short-cut along the riverside to the family-owned business where her parents and other relations are waiting 27 for her. ‘You were bloody brilliant,’ her aunt greets her as she comes through the doorway. Swimmer A accepts the congratulations from her family, but she does not linger for long to bask in the euphoria. She moves to a small office at the back. She flicks opens a telephone directory, finds the number she wants and taps it out on the phone. ‘Hello, I’d like to speak to the Minister for Sport, please,’ she says. She listens politely while a voice at the other end explains that the minister is in Donegal and unable to take her call.

         ‘Ah, but I think he will want to talk to me,’ she answers confidently. ‘Tell him I’m one of Derry O’Rourke’s victims.’
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            2. Chalkie’s Story

         

         On 26 December 1990, Chalkie White was 35,000 feet high in the night sky, somewhere between London and Singapore. The plastic meal trays had been cleared away and passengers were reading airport paperbacks, watching the movie or dozing under skimpy blankets. Chalkie looked across at where Gary O’Toole was sitting in the window-seat of an otherwise vacant row of seats, his feet tucked under him, the overhead light illuminating his concentration on an electronic chess board. Chalkie could not see George Gibney, but he guessed that, as the national swimming coach, he would be seated towards the front of the plane with the travelling blazers from the Irish Amateur Swimming Association, all buoyed with inflated expectations for the World – Championships in Perth. Gibney, the most powerful figure in Irish swimming, was a member of the Association’s technical committee, giving him the casting vote in the selection of the national swimming team. Up front with him would be Ger Doyle, a coach from New Ross in Wexford and a regular member of Gibney’s entourage. Not having any of his swimmers in the team, Doyle would be paying his own passage to Australia. Also there would be Derry O’Rourke, swimming’s admiral-in-waiting, who was accompanying his club’s golden girl, Michelle Smith, to the Australian games.

         Chalkie stood up and walked over to Gary, kick-starting what the older man would later describe as ‘the blackest period of my life’. 29

         – How’s it going? Are you looking forward to this? he asked lightly, hunkering down in the seat beside Gary.

         – I dunno. I’ve been training hard. Maybe over-training.

         Gary was all chlorine-bleached, sparkling good looks, unbowed by expectations that he would secure, at minimum, a fourth place in the breaststroke in Perth. It was hard to dislike him and the few who did were inclined towards envy. As the leading Irish performer in the pool since the mid-1980s, he was awarded a £5,000 ‘elite athlete’s grant’ in 1990 by Cospóir, the State sports organisation. He had been swimming since he was a small boy, first in his hometown club, Bray Cove, and, from the age of nine, under George Gibney’s tutelage at the prestigious Trojan Swimming Club in Blackrock, County Dublin. He had competed in the Seoul Olympics in 1988, along with Michelle Smith from Trojans’ foremost rival club, King’s Hospital in west Dublin, with Gibney as Irish Olympic coach. Neither swimmer had progressed beyond the heats but, in 1989, Gary sensationally won a silver medal at the European Championships in Bonn and the hopes of a gloomy, pre-Celtic Tiger nation hungry for international applause were impelling him towards the winners’ podium at the Barcelona Olympics in 1992. The World Championships in Perth, from January 3 to 13, 1991, would be a significant test of the twenty-one-year-old UCD medical student’s potential to achieve the ultimate sporting dream.

         – Do you get on ok with George? wondered Chalkie.

         – Yeah, fine. It’s just professional, you know. We wouldn’t be bosom buddies or anything, if that’s what you mean. I don’t know where he lives and I wouldn’t have his phone number.’ 30

         – Did he ever do anything to you?’

         – He’s been a bit of a prick alright, and he’s upset me the odd time, yeah, Gary admitted.

         – No, I mean has he ever done anything untoward?

         – What’re you talking about?

         – Has he ever abused you?

         – You mean, sexually abused me?

         – Yeah, said Chalkie, intensely aware of how the half-light and the high-backed seats screened the pair of them from the other passengers.

         – No. Why are you asking me this?

         – Because he did it to me.

         At thirty-five, Francis ‘Chalkie’ White was fourteen years older than Gary O’Toole. He was married with two young sons and worked full time as an IT consultant with a multinational company. He was travelling to Perth as a member of the coaching staff, having prepared one of his Glenalbyn Club swimmers, Aileen Convery, for competition in the Seoul Olympics in 1988. He began swimming with the Guinness club at the age of nine. When he won the Liffey Swim, an arduous 1,800 metre handicapped race through Dublin city centre, as a pale, slender eleven-year-old for the first of his two successive victories, his English-born coach, Eddie Ince, had cheered, ‘Well done, Chalkie, m’lad,’ as he emerged dripping from the water in front of clamouring reporters and photographers. The following day’s newspapers reported that a boy from Clondalkin, name of Chalkie White, had surged to victory in the Liffey Swim. After that, nobody ever called him Francis again. It was as Chalkie White that he went on to swim for Ireland 31and won a sports scholarship to Villanova University in Pennsylvania where he roomed with fellow Irish sports scholarship student, the Olympic runner Eamonn Coghlan. Sixteen years after his life-defining conversation with Gary on board the flight to Perth he would be formally inducted into the university’s hall of fame.

         Chalkie’s prowess in the sport was implicitly acknowledged by his appointment as the Irish Independent’s swimming correspondent, in addition to his day job. He had also commenced writing a regular column for Swim magazine in the autumn of 1990. In his inaugural column for a special World Championships issue, he singled out Gary’s silver medal in Bonn for special mention.

         Chalkie’s record as an outstanding swimmer was in stark contrast with George Gibney’s personal accomplishments in the water. When one of the national coach’s protégés pushed Gibney into the pool for a lark one day, the country’s elite swimmers had stood on the deck and watched with appalled mirth as their coach doggy-paddled to the side and held on, gasping and spluttering. The truth was out. The top coach in the country could not swim to save his life. Not that it detracted from his reputation as a brilliant motivator who delivered results. Among his earliest trophies had been Chalkie White.

         Gibney had been orphaned young by the early deaths of his parents. He lived for some time with an uncle in Athlone and, for a short while, with a great-aunt in a Guinness-owned house in Derravaragh Road in Terenure. At the age of nineteen, he was sharing a house in Dublin with his brother. It was around the time he took Chalkie under his wing, in the late 1960s. The house stood in a humble row of artisan red-bricks called Greenville Terrace, off 32South Circular Road, close to the Guinness brewery, where he worked as a fitter and coached swimmers in the company pool. In his bedroom, he kept a pull-out sofa which he used as a bench for work-outs and it was here that he brought Chalkie, aged eleven, for weight-training sessions. What the child noticed was that the curtains were always drawn, even in daylight. One weeknight before Christmas 1967, Chalkie was stretched out on the sofa bed after completing his exercises, when Gibney switched off the overhead light and came and lay on top of him.

         – What would you do if I was a girl? he asked.

         Twice a week for the next three years, the coach routinely sexually abused him, not stopping until the boy turned fourteen. Almost all the incidents happened in the Greenville Terrace house. An exception was in the summer of 1968, when Chalkie was thirteen and attending a residential swimming camp at the fee-paying boarding school, Gormanston College in County Meath. The swimmers at the camp were sleeping one to a cubicle. One night, after Gibney finished supervision duty in the dormitory, he got into bed with Chalkie in his cubicle and stripped off his own pyjamas.

         – What would you do if I was a girl? he asked, as always.

         In the soporific ambience of the big airliner, Chalkie poured his story out to Gary in unsparing detail. The young swimmer listened quietly as a memory returned to him. He was eleven years old and feeling homesick during a training camp in California in June 1980. His coach, the mighty George Gibney, came tiptoeing into his bedroom. Gary feigned sleep. He could smell the coach standing beside his bed. Then he felt his hand on his leg and realised he was trying to get into bed with him. Gary remembered how he had 33told him to go away and how his coach had offered him an apple and slunk off, never to seek him out again. He told Chalkie this story and, inside him, Chalkie’s heart shrivelled with the realisation that ‘nothing had happened to Gary other than that he had refused; he’d been strong’. A dread entered him that this plea for help would evaporate, once again.

         For he had sought help once before. Upon returning home to Dublin from his scholarship at Villanova with a business finance degree he had commenced training with Derry O’Rourke, club coach at King’s Hospital in Palmerstown and Olympic coach-designate for Moscow 1980. Despite reaching the qualifying standard for the 1976 Olympics in Montreal, Chalkie had not been picked for the team and would ultimately be declared too old to participate in Moscow in 1980. On a day in 1978, while sitting at the poolside with O’Rourke at the end of a training session, the now twenty-two-year-old swimmer felt disgust build inside him as his new coach delivered a stream of lascivious comments about the young girl swimmers arriving in their swimsuits for a class.

         – Nice little bit of stuff, ho, ho, O’Rourke leered at one of the children.

         Fury welled inside Chalkie.

         – What are you going on about? he demanded.

         – I’m only looking at the kids and wondering what they’ll be like when they grow up.

         Perhaps it was a combination of anger and frustration and the pain of all the years, or maybe it was a simple recognition of the deceitfulness mirrored in O’Rourke’s line of defence that made Chalkie utter his next words.

         34– I had a relationship with George when I was a kid, he blurted out.

         O’Rourke looked nonplussed.

         – Well, all I can say is that’s something I’d keep to myself if I were you.

         – Why?

         – Maybe people would start asking questions about you, saying you were gay. You know, being at the pool where there are boy swimmers going round in tight little togs.

         What most alarmed Chalkie about the conversation with his coach was not that O’Rourke failed to act on the information that his colleague had engaged in sex with a minor, but the tacit admission that it was standard practice for adult coaches to regard young swimmers as sexual objects.

         This time, however, he had chosen his confidante well. As Chalkie went on talking quietly in the slumbering plane, Gary made two seismic decisions. The first one was that he believed what he was hearing. ‘I believed him absolutely’, he recalls. ‘I’m not saying my loyalty to George immediately evaporated but I looked at Chalkie’s eyes and I knew it was deeply personal.’

         He informed Chalkie of his second decision.

         – I guarantee you, as soon as the Olympics are over, I’ll do something about this. You have my word.

         As the wheels of the airliner touched down in Singapore, before the final leg of the journey to Australia, the process for the exposure of some of the most prolific paedophiles in Ireland had been set in motion. As he disembarked, Gary was acutely aware of the danger he was facing. ‘I was a medical student. I hadn’t even 35graduated. If I was to go around making these allegations and they turned out not to be true, my career would be over before it began.’

         Chalkie too understood that a road had been taken during the flight to south-east Asia from which there would be no turning back. Many years later, Val White, his wife of twenty-eight years, would discover a jotter filled with a detailed memoir of his conversation with Gary in the course of a spring clean of their home. She found it after Chalkie left home.
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            3. The Beginning of the End for George Gibney

         

         The high hopes for Gary O’Toole’s performances at the World Championships in Perth sank like pirate treasure. Instead of the third or fourth placings he had aspired to, his best finish left him trailing in eleventh. To the dismayed public, it was an inexplicable failure, but not to the swimmer.

         ‘I’m being told my split times by a coach I know has been acting the way Chalkie’s told me and I’m thinking, “If he did that to Chalkie, what about X and what about Y? Is that why she left the club suddenly the way she did?” I was thinking that I’d never thought to ask those people who vanished from Trojans [five senior swimmers left the club between December 1990 and January 1991] what was wrong. When I was fourteen or fifteen, there were girls of thirteen or fourteen being abused by him. As a male, there were girls you were trying to date and, when they said no, you just left them alone. You didn’t ask why because you didn’t have the confidence. You didn’t know these were girls who had been warned not to have anything to do with any other males.’

         Chalkie too was starting to feel the pangs of apprehension, fearing nothing would come from his conversation with Gary. The pair talked often during those three weeks in Perth, always conscious that George Gibney was watching them. For Chalkie knew that Gibney knew that Chalkie had reached a crisis in his life. 37

         Only weeks earlier, at the beginning of December 1990, Chalkie had inadvertently walked in on a meeting of the Irish Amateur Swimming Association (IASA). He saw Gibney sitting at the table and heard a snatch of the conversation that clearly showed the topic on the agenda was the selection of IASA coaches for the World Championships. Chalkie left the room, furious. He waited outside the door trying to control himself as the realisation sank in that Gibney had double-crossed him by excluding him from the meeting and, ergo, from the trip to Perth. He thought: ‘I’ve just got screwed by this guy again.’ With that, he opened the door, re-entered the meeting and let loose a tirade against the esteemed national coach, causing what he classifies as ‘a bit of a kerfuffle’. He accused Gibney of conspiring against him, of deliberately misleading him and of being a master manipulator. Chalkie was more shocked than anybody by his outburst. For a long time, he had managed to convince himself that he could leave the past undisturbed and work alongside his abuser as a fellow Leinster-based coach with Glenablyn Club in nearby Stillorgan, County Dublin.

         ‘When George became national coach, he started giving me coaching jobs to do for big events but, after a year of working beside him, I could see he hadn’t changed. I began to see the deceitfulness in him. I thought to myself: “You’re thirty-five. What possessed you to believe in him? He manipulated me when I was younger and now he’s doing it again.” It caused me real big headaches; probably more than he had actually done to me before. I knew I couldn’t handle it anymore.’

         He felt torn between reminders of Gibney’s duplicity and auguries that he was a reformed character. The transformation never 38seemed more convincing than when, in 1989, Chalkie suffered serious injuries in a mountain fall in Chiasso, close to the Italian border in southern Switzerland, where he was Irish team manager for an Eight Nations swimming competition. In the fall, his head struck a rocky outcrop, the trauma causing a haematoma that required eight hours of emergency surgery in a Swiss hospital. George Gibney, who was not on that trip, was the one who took charge back at home. It was he who broke the news to Chalkie’s family, arranging air travel and finances and acquiring an emergency passport for Chalkie’s wife, Val, to fly to Switzerland.

         The good impression quickly receded on Chalkie’s return to Ireland. He watched with growing apprehension as his old coach revelled in the power invested in him by the sport’s governing body. Gibney had been appointed national swimming coach by the Irish Amateur Swimming Association in 1981. In 1988, when the newly-established National Lottery provided the Department of Education with the finances to fund a national Director of Swimming, Gibney got the job. It was the same year he was Olympic coach for the games in Seoul. In the twelve months preceding the games, he brought his elite swimmers on numerous training and acclimatisation camps overseas, including trips to Mission Bay in Florida, Canet in France, Edinburgh and Honolulu. After the previous Olympics in Los Angeles, he had produced a four-year plan entitled ‘Our Goal Is Seoul’, ensuring his position as team manager for South Korea. In the following year, 1989, he was granted an honorary life membership of the IASA on the nomination of the Connaught branch. He tendered his resignation from 39the Director of Swimming position in May 1990, arguing that the duties involved were too onerous, whereupon the IASA abolished the position. Gibney stayed on as the all-powerful national coach.

         He was further assimilated into the sport’s national governance by his appointment to the IASA’s medical committee, its technical committee and to its education and coaching committee. In 1990, he was awarded the Sports Manager of the Year accolade, sponsored by the Irish Life Assurance Company. Thanks to his assiduous cultivation of influential social contacts, many sourced from Trojans, where the members and the parents of competitive swimmers comprised a pantheon of Ireland’s professional class, he enjoyed extensive political promotion. He kept a well-thumbed copy of How to Make Friends and Influence People within arm’s reach in his office, embracing the essential ethos between its covers that pleasing others is the most effective route to success. Trojans, with an active membership of 450 people, was housed in the sports complex attached to Newpark Comprehensive School on Newtownpark Avenue in Blackrock, a leafy residential heartland of the well-to-do. It was ripe for Gibney’s go-getter love-bombing.
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